SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM REAVES,

Appellant,

-vs
STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

Appellee

)

CASE NO. 71,148

APR 1803

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

AND

Deputy Clerk

SENTENCE OF DEATH
ENTERED FOR THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA
ON SEPTEMBER 2, 1987

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLIFFORD H. BARNES
BARNES & YACUCCI
Attorneys at Law
200 So. Indian River Drive
Suite 201
The Legal Centre
Fort Pierce, Florida 34950
(407) 466-4600

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The State of Florida was the Plaintiff in the Trial

Court below and will be referred to as the State or the Appellee.

The Appellant was the Defendant and will be referred to as the Appellant or the Defendant.

The record on appeal consists of sixteen (16) volumes of pleadings, motion hearings, and trial transcripts. The pleadings, motions, and trial on record will be referred to as "R". The Appellants confession, admitted in Volume X, will be referred to as "R1402, Conf."

Finally, any items included in Appellant's Appendix, and subject of Appellant's Motion to Supplement, will be referred to as "A".

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. In this issue Appellant demonstrates that the prosecutor in this case, Bruce Colton, previously represented him in one prior criminal case and conferred with him on another. In this case, the prior two cases were used against Appellant and explored at length in the sentencing phase and were used to establish an aggravating factor. Many of the facts and issues discussed in the two prior cases were either identical or similar to those in the guilt phase of this trial. Appellant argues that his prosecution by his former lawyer under these circumstances was a violation of due process and rules of ethics.
- II. In this issue Appellant demonstrates that he submitted a required instruction on Third Degree murder to the court, and that the facts of the case required the giving of same. Prejudice resulted in that the instructions represented his theory of the case and the jury was therefore precluded from considering his defense.
- III. In this issue Appellant demonstrates that a black prospective juror was peremptorily excused by the State. The trial court failed to make the inquiry as to the State's reasons, or evaluate the reasons the State volunteered into the record. The record establishes that the two reasons volunteered by the State were simply a pretext for discriminatory exclusion.
- IV. In the sentencing phase, the trial court allowed evidence "going behind" two nonviolent convictions to establish that they were violent. These two convictions, for conspiring to commit robbery and grand larceny, were the same referred to

in Issue I, wherein Bruce Colton represented or conferred with Appellant, and one of which resulted from a plea entered pursuant to Bruce Colton's advice. Appellant argues that the State should be precluded from introducing evidence contradicting the actual convictions and that Bruce Colton's previous representation of him in these cases precludes their use, or his involvement in them, in this case.

V. Appellant argues in this issue that his proffered evidence narrowly and specifically establishing his help in 1973 in foiling a jailbreak and saving a jailer from harm should not have "opened the door" to evidence of his prior behavior in incarceration through the years. The trial court's contrary ruling essentially deprived Appellant of the opportunity to prove same.

VI. Appellant argues that the facts of the case do not establish any "additional acts" by him in this murder to cause the victim increased or extended suffering, and that, therefore, the case is not "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By indictment filed October 9, 1986, in the Circuit

Court of Indian River County, Appellant was charged with Murder
in the First Degree, Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted

Felon, and Trafficking in Cocaine in Excess of twenty-eight

(28) but less than four hundred (400) grams (R2050). On

December 17, 1986, venue for trial was ordered changed to

Sarasota County (R2122).

On January 27, 1987, Appellant filed a Motion to Disqualify State Attorney Bruce Colton and his office from prosecution of this case (R2169-2173). As one ground, Appellant cited facts and issues surrounding Bruce Colton's representation of the defendant in a criminal case in 1973 (R2170). A hearing was held on the Motion to Disqualify on February 13, 1987, during which testimony was taken and exhibits introduced (R1961-2023). (These facts will be addressed in depth in Issue #I). Appellant's Motion to Disqualify was subsequently denied by the trial court (R2322-2323). On March 10, 1987, Appellant's Motion for Severance was granted, separating the latter two (2) counts for trial after the First Degree Murder charge (R2334).

The trial of Appellant on the First Degree Murder charge began in Sarasota on August 17, 1987. The primary issue for the jury was whether the shooting of the victim was premeditated. The Appellant, through counsel, admitted at the outset being

the shooter (R869-874), and the jury was not instructed on the applicability of the First Degree Felony-Murder statute (R1684-1697).

Testimony and evidence at trial established that the victim, Deputy Richard Raczkowski of the Indian River County Sheriff's Department, was on patrol during the early morning hours of September 23, 1986, when he was dispatched by 911 to the Zippy Mart on Twentieth (20th) Street regarding a call to 911 from that address' pay phone (R934,935).

Working at 911 on the night in question was Susie Erhardt who handled the telephone (R916), and Cathleen Cooney, who handled the radio transmissions (R932). Erhardt had received the phone call at 3:06 a.m. and the address had automatically come up on the screen even though the caller immediately hung up (R917,918). Erhardt then had advised Cooney of the possibility of "some kind of problem" (R918).

Deputy Richard Raczkowski reported his arrival at the Zippy Mart at 3:08 a.m., and at 3:09 a.m., radioed that he would be out with a black male at the location (R936,937). Shortly thereafter Deputy Raczkowski radioed a request for a local warrants check from Cooney at 911 for Appellant (R937). Cooney radioed back a "10-54" which indicated that there were no outstanding warrants on Appellant (R939). Deputy Raczkowski then used the phone at 3:11 a.m., to call Erhardt to request that she call a cab for Appellant (R920). The 911 transcript reveals that Deputy Raczkowski advised that Appellant had "called them a couple of times . . . he's down here waiting, needs a ride home . . . he's just waiting for them" (R1030). Deputy

Raczkowski then requested a "10-39" which meant he wanted to be called back with verification (R921). Erhardt called and verified with the cab company that they had a cab going to the Zippy Mart (R921). Shortly thereafter Cooney was communicating over the radio with Deputy Brown, when their conversation was "walked on" by another unit's transmission (R941). Just seconds later Cooney received a partial radio transmission from a Mr. Whitaker advising that an officer was "down" at the Zippy Mart address, and requesting an ambulance (R1032).

Although there is no exact record of the times of these events other than noted above, Detective Pisani determined that two (2) minutes and thirty-two (32) seconds elapsed between Deputy Raczkowski's last transmission for a "10-39" and Deputy Brown's communication being "walked on" (R1060). After hearing Whitaker's transmission over the radio that Cooney was handling, Dispatcher Erhardt called for an ambulance at 3:17 a.m. (R922).

Mr. Whitaker, the caller who reported an officer "down" testified that just before the incident he was delivering papers near the Zippy Mart, which was closed that morning (R965). He heard noises he thought were firecrackers just as he pulled onto Eighty Second (82nd) Avenue which runs north and south along side of the Zippy Mart:

"There was about four of five noises like firecrackers going on, and there was another one, the last one, but it was much louder than the first set of noises that I heard". (R963-965)

Expert testimony established later that the deputy's gun, a Magnum, would have a louder report than the Appellant's gun, a nine (9) millimeter (R1501).

After hearing the shots, Mr. Whitaker observed the deputy's car parked in front of the Zippy Mart as depicted in State's Exhibit "53", (R964), and a black male behind the deputy's open driver's door (R966). The black male ran west in front of the Zippy Mart and out of view (R967). The black male ran in the type of crouched position that Mr. Whitaker had only seen used by those being shot at during his own experience in Vietnam. Mr. Whitaker remembered the black male as being about five feet seven inches to five feet nine inches (5'7" - 5'9") tall and one hundred eighty to one hundred ninety pounds (180 - 1901bs.), and dressed in red shorts and white socks (R973). After the black male disappeared, Mr. Whitaker went to the deputy's side in the dirt area of the parking lot and offered his assistance (R968). He observed that Deputy Raczkowski had his own gun already drawn and being held in his right hand (R977). Although Mr. Whitaker could not observe any injuries at first, Deputy Raczkowski kept repeating "get an ambulance, get help" (R968). Mr. Whitaker observed, from experience as an EMT that the deputy appeared to be in "some state of shock" (R969). Mr. Whitaker then went to the deputy's car and radioed 911 that a deputy was down and an ambulance needed (R971). Not knowing whether the transmission was received he then went and repeated the message on the pay phone (R971).

Just as Mr. Whitaker hung up the pay phone, the deputy fired a shot from his gun (R972). (Despite Mr. Whitaker having heard only two (2) shots apparently attributable to the deputy's gun, expert testimony established that three (3) shots had actually been fired from that gun (R1500).

While assisting the rescue personnel working on Deputy Raczkowski, Jr. Whitaker observed that he appeared to be in "pretty much pain" (R978), an observation shared by Sgt. Hamilton, the first law enforcement officer on the scene (R1077). Medical Examiner Walker testified that the deputy's wounds were such that he would not have died instantly, but rather would languish for "some time period" (R1463).

Criminalist Laurito matched three (3) bullets taken from the victim's body and one (1) lodged in a trailer across the highway, to the defendant's gun (R1490-1491). The defendant's confession verified that he had emptied the clip (R1402, pg. 13). Four (4) shots struck Deputy Richard Raczkowski, three (3) in the back area, and one (1) in the left arm, as indicated in State's Exhibits #67, #68, and #70 (R1451-1453). Dr. Walker further testified that the path of the bullets through the victim's body were consistent with the shots being fired while the victim was in a crouched position (R1457-1459). Although Dr. Walker could not establish from how far away the shots were fired, they were not fired at point blank range (R1466-1467).

In his confession to authorities in Georgia following his flight to avoid capture, Appellant indicated that, prior to the shooting, he was at his girlfriend's house watching football (R1402, Conf. 2). His girlfriend was late coming home so he walked to the Zippy Mart (R1402, Conf. 2). He called a cab twice, became impatient because he was "all coked out", and proceeded to dial 911 because he had run out of change for the phone (R1402, Conf. 2-3). Then, Appellant stated:

"By this time, by the time, was about three minutes, maybe, I walked out by the street, the

deputy pulled up, he pulled in by the phone. I was standin' by the highway. I called, asked him, 'How you doin' officer?' He said, 'Fine,' he said, 'You want to step over here?' Then I said, 'Sure'. He asked me did I, I say yes, I used the 9-1-1. I ran out of funds. I didn't have anymore money, I had got a quarter from another guy that was hitchhikin'. So, he ask me my name, I gave 'im my name, he ran a check on me, everything was clean. I was waiting there. He called back to the Sheriff's Office for them to call him back "39" or "29" or somethin', I don't recall. . . I'm still wired all out. And after that, me and him stood there, we talkin'. . . I've never met a finer officer in my life. Somehow I had on some short red pants, a .380 fell. . . it fell to the ground, tried to pick it up, he stepped on my hand . . . I, both of us panicked. I panicked . . . " (R1402, Conf. 2-3)

The events that followed, which resuled in the deputy being shot, are in dispute.

Appellant stated in his confession that he didn't want to let the deputy have his gun because he was an ex-felon and if caught with that gun would get "a mandatory three (3) years" (R1402, Conf. 39). According to Appellant:

"Officer hollered, 'Give me that'! He stepped on it, I pushed his knee back, I said, 'Officer, I'm not give you my gun 'cause you done checked me out, I'm clean and everything. All I want to do is go home.' That's when I had him right here.

Pisani: Okay. You say you had him right here, can you explain?

Appellant: I had, I had the officer around the throat with my left hand, I told him all I want to do is go home, and want no trouble. I couldn't let that officer get the gun because I was an exfelon. So the officer proceed to back back, and he got to the back of the car on the right corner of the passenger side, he started runnin' toward 82nd." (R1402, Conf. 37)

Appellant stressed many times during his confession that he did not shoot until the officer pulled his own gun as he was funning around the car away from Appellant (R1402, Conf. 7,8,13,35 38,41). Appellant also confirmed that he had been in combat in Vietnam (R1402, Conf. 40).

Appellant further indicated that, although he didn't have a "reason" to shoot the officer, he was under the "influence of cocaine", he "panicked", he was "paranoid", and he thought the officer was going to try to shoot him because he was an "ex-felon" with a "hot" gun (R1402, Conf. 8).

After shooting Deputy Raczkowski, defendant ran for about 6.9 miles away from the crime scene (R1257).

He ended up at a house occupied by Eugene Hinton.

Eugene Hinton testified at trial that he had known Appellant since high school in 1969 (Rl161). On Tuesday morning he was awakened by Appellant knocking on his window (Rl163). He let Appellant in the door whereupon Appellant said "I fucked up. I just shot a - I just shot a police, I just shot a police, I shot that cracker" (Rl165). According to Hinton, Appellant was sweating, was wearing red shorts and he was scratched on his arms and legs (Rl164-1165). Appellant was carrying a pistol wrapped in a white tee shirt (Rl165). Appellant then took a shower and put on some clothes provided by Hinton (Rl166-1167). Hinton disposed of Appellant's clothes and later led police to them (Rl171).

In a substantial contradiction of Appellant's account of the shooting in his confession, and the 911 tape admitted into evidence, Hinton testified that Reaves' told him that his gun fell out while the deputy was waiting for the "check" to come back (R1179). Of course the 911 tape revealed that, in fact, the warrants check had already come back on the radio negative and the deputy had already called 911 on the phone to request they call the Appellant a cab (R920). Hinton then testified, again in contrast to Appellant's account, that

Appellant told him that after Appellant picked up the gun, he put it in the deputy's face, the deputy offered to let Appellant leave, and then pleaded for his life (R1181-1182). According to Hinton Appellant told Hinton that his reply to the deputy was "one of us got to go, me or you" (R1183). Hinton then testified on cross examination that Appellant said he thought it was him or the deputy once the deputy went for his gun (R1218), although he changed this on redirect (R1228). At this point, according to Hinton, the deputy turned and ran and appellant "cut loose four (4) times" (R1183). Other testimony at the trial established that, in fact, Appellant had shot seven (7) rounds (R1101). Although Hinton later changed his testimony to allege that the Appellant said he hit the victim four (4) times (R1186), he was impeached by a prior sworn statement (R1199-2000). In addition it was established that Hinton changed his story several times with regards to whether or not there was another witness (Jerry Bryant) to Appellant's statements (R1200-1204). Hinton also admitted at trial that he had given detailed statements to law enforcement on two (2) occasions in this case which were total lies (R1193-1194), that he had seen television accounts of the shooting before his first "truthful" statement (R1197), and that he in fact was good at telling lies and having people believe him (R1229). Eugene Hinton admitted to prior impeachable convictions numbering "four or five" (R1193).

Appellant's confession indicates that he was given a ride from Hinton's house to Melbourne by Jerry Bryant (R1402, Conf. 21), that he took a bus to Albany, Georgia, the next day (R1402, Conf. 29), and that he carried a large amount of

cocaine with him (R1402, Conf. 29-30).

Alexander Hall, a narcotics investigator with the Sheriff's Department in Albany, Georgia, testified that on September 24, 1986, he was dispatched to the local bus station in plainclothes to watch for Appellant, that Appellant approached him offering to sell cocaine, and that they entered the bathroom for that purpose (R1310-1313). Once in the bathroom, Hall observed Appellant's pistol and Appellant showed him a "twenty dollar rock" (R1312-1313). Hall then went into a stall, and drew his gun. A scuffle ensued over the gun, the Appellant was arrested and put into a police car, and subsequently fled on foot down the street (R1334-1335). Appellant was recaptured and transported to the jail where he gave a false name (R1357). Appellant later admitted his correct name and that he was the man who shot the deputy (R1380). Appellant advised that he wanted to talk to the Sheriff from Florida (R1380).

The recording of Appellant's subsequent confession, admitted without objection, was played to the jury, who followed with transcripts provided them for that sole purpose (R1402). In addition a drawing made by Appellant during his confession, depicting the events of the shooting, was admitted into evidence, again without objection (R1406).

After deliberation, the defendant was convicted by the jury of First Degree Murder as charged (R1706).

In the sentencing phase of the trial the State presented, over Appellant's objection, judgments of conviction and live testimony describing the actual events, of two (2) prior allegedly violent felonies. (R1760-1794). Appellant objected

to this evidence because of the prior attorney-client relationship in these cases between Bruce Colton and Appellant, and because the actual convictions were for lesser, non-violent crimes (R1735-1742).

As to evidence of mitigation, the Appellant filed with the court a written waiver of all specific statutory mitigating circumstances (R1714) and announced his intention of presenting nonstatutory evidence of mitigation in two (2) main areas - his Vietnam combat experience and Honorable Discharge, and his participation in foiling a jailbreak at the Stuart jail in 1973 (R1727). The latter evidence was proffered in the form of prior sworn testimony by two (2) jail guards (R1734). Later, Appellant decided not to present the "jailbreak" evidence to the jury based on the court's ruling that it would open the door to damaging rebuttal evidence (R1820-1821). However, Appellant did present evidence to the jury of his Vietnam Combat experience and his Honorable Discharge from the army (R1830-1859).

The jury recommended a death sentence for Appellant, and the sentencing was ordered held in Indian River County (R1907-1913). At the Sentencing the court filed a written order setting forth its finding of three (3) valid aggravating factors (Prior Violent Felony, Avoidance of Arrest, and Especially Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel) and one (1) mitigating circumstance (Appellant's military service in active combat) (R2527-2530). The court sentenced Appellant to death (R2525).

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal (R2509) and the undersigned counsel was appointed to represent the Appellant on said appeal (R2533).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONTINUED PROSECUTION OF APPELLANT BY HIS FORMER PUBLIC DEFENDER WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR AND PER SE VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS WHERE SUCH PROSECUTION INVOLVED ISSUES AND FACTS IDENTICAL OR RELATED TO THOSE IN PRIOR CASES AND TO THE CONFIDENCES REVEALED IN SAME, WHERE AGGRAVATING FACTOR WAS ESTABLISHED WITH CONVICTION OBTAINED PURSUANT TO FORMER ATTORNEY'S ADVICE, AND WHERE THERE WAS CREATED AN OVERWHELMING APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY.

As the record amply reflects, Bruce Colton took an active role in both stages of Appellant's trial. The record also indicates that the issues and facts from two (2) 1973 criminal cases in which Bruce Colton shared attorney-client relationship with Appellant, were intermingled throughout.

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