SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	
WILLIAM REAVES,	) )	
		7
Appellant,		
	) CASE NO. 71,148	
۷.	) CASE NO. /1,140	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) ) )	
APPELLEE.		

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

EDDIE J. BELL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

Orig. filed 7-14-88 (served 7-11-88)

##

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

A federal case on point with the present case is <u>Havens</u> <u>v. State of Indiana</u>, 793 F.2d 143 (7th Cir. 1986). Although the <u>Havens</u> court recognized that the better course of action would

-18-

have been for the prosecutor to recuse himself, the court concluded that no violation of due process resulted from the prosecution of an accused by his former counsel. In reaching this conclusion, the <u>Havens</u> court noted that the defendant's earlier charges, of which he was represented by the prosecutor, was unrelated to the new charge. The <u>Havens</u> court also determined that the defendant failed to prove that, by reason of the former confidential relationship between the prosecutor and him, the prosecutor acquired special knowledge of the facts that were used against the defendant at trial. Although the prosecutor used information concerning the defendant's background in the cross-examination of the defendant, the <u>Havens</u> Court determined that anyone who prosecuted the defendant would have had access to this background information.

As in <u>Havens</u>, the information that Appellant alleged Mr. Colton had access to was background information which would have been accessible to anyone who prosecuted the case. Appellant could not recall any confidential information that he had provided to Mr. Colton during the prior representation which was not contained in the PSI report, or which was not revealed to other sources. Thus, as the defendant in <u>Havens</u>, Appellant failed to prove that Mr. Colton acquired special facts during the prior representation that was used against him in the trial. Appellant's drug problem and Vietnam experience was general information.

-19-

Appellant's reliance on <u>Young v. State</u>, 177 So.2d 345 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) is misplaced. In <u>Young</u>, the defendant's attorney became a prosecutor in the same case in which he had had prior dealings with the defendant. Unlike in <u>Young</u>, Mr. Colton represented Appellant during the entry of a plea in a wholly unrelated case fourteen years prior to the murder charge.

Without identifying any confidential exchanges between Mr. Colton and he, Appellant makes the bare assertion "that the confidences exchanged in the 1973 attorney-client relationship between himself and Bruce Colton and the legal acts and issues with which they were concerned, are so interwoven with the case at bar that they are either the 'matter' as defined in Rule 401.11 [sic], 'substantially related' matters referred to in Rule 4-1-9, or 'related' matters referred to by the court in <u>Fitzpatrick, id</u>, at 1188." (AB.19). However, since Appellant does not identify only confidential communications, this assertion is meritless. As Appellee has shown, the statements attributed to Mr. Colton in the PSI report was of a general nature and accessible to the public.

Appellant also contends that it was extremely prejudicial for the jury to be aware that a defendant is being prosecuted by his former attorney (AB, 17). However, the jury was never informed that Mr. Colton represented Appellant in the prior case. Thus, from the standpoint of the jury, Mr. Colton never presented an appearance of professional impropriety. Appellant

-20-

appears to be grabbing for straws.

Even if it was conceded that the trial court erred in not disqualifying the State Attorney, such error did not affect the outcome of the trial, and thus, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla 1986). During the guilt phase of the trial, the record reveals that Mr. Colton did not use any information relating to the prior case against Appellant. Mr. Colton did not have to cross examine Appellant, since Appellant selected not to testify. In the initial brief, Appellant does not identify a single instance during the guilt phase of the trial in which Mr. Colton used information concerning the 1973 case against Appellant.

Moreover, Mr. Colton did not use any information concerning the 1973 case in the penalty phase. Although the trial court used the 1973 conviction as an aggravating factor, only the conviction itself and the general facts underlying the conviction was used to support this aggravating factor.<sup>1</sup> The record does not reveal, nor does Appellant identify in his brief, any confidential communications between Mr. Colton and Appellant that was used during the penalty phase of the trial.

Since Appellant has not demonstrated a reversible error, his coviction should be affirmed.

1

-21-

Appellee will discuss this issue in Point V.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE REQUESTED INSTRUCTION ON THIRD-DEGREE MURDER WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SUCH INSTRUCTION.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in not instructing the jury on third degree murder where there was evidence to support the instruction. In the instant case, during the charge conference, the trial court declined to instruct on third degree murder because it found nothing in the indictment or proof which would support this instruction. Appellee maintains that the trial court correctly refused to instruct on third degree murder where there was no basis in the indictment or proof for such an instruction.

In <u>Green v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 235, 237 (Fla. 1985), the Florida Supreme Court recognized that due to the amendment of <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.490, an instruction on all lesser degrees of murder is no longer required. As both <u>Green v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 423 So.2ds 614 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) point out, prior to October 1, 1981, <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.490 provided that when the information or indictment charges an offense which is divided into degrees, the court shall in all such cases charge the jury as to the degrees of the offense, even if there was no evidence of the lesser degree. However, by amendment effective October 1, 1981, Rule 3.490 was amended so as to provide that the judge "shall not instruct on any degree as to which there is no

-22-

evidence". Thus, under this revised rule, as well as the revised jury instructions in criminal cases, a jury instruction on third degree murder was required only if there is evidence to support that offense. <u>See, In The Matter Of Use By Trial Courts Of</u> <u>Standard Jury Instruction In Criminal Cases</u>, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981).

Third degree murder is a category two lesser-included offense to first-degree murder. See, The Florida Bar Re-Standard jury Instructions, 508 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1981). In determining whether to instruct the jury on a category two lesser-included offense, the trial court must first determine whether the elements of the lesser-included offense is alleged in the accusatory pleading, and then must determine whether the evidence supports the allegation of the lesser-included offense. State v. Baker, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla 1984). In the instant case, the indictment charged Appellant with first degree premeditated murder. Appellant was not charged with Resisting Arrest With Violence nor was it in any way alleged that the murder occurred during the course of this offense. An accusation supporting an instruction on third degree murder was not present sub judice. Under Baker, supra, both the accusation and the proof must be present to require a category two jury instruction. See, White v. State, 412 So.2d 28 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982) (to be a lesser included offense, the greater offense must allege all elements of lesser offense and proof must support allegations of lesser

-23-

offense); <u>Stone v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1222 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (to determine whether an offense is a lesser included offense, it is necessary to look at the allegations of the information and, where appropriate, proofs at trial). Since the indictment did not allege the elements of third-degree murder, the trial court correctly refused to charge the jury on this offense. <u>See</u> <u>Herrington v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 1106 (Fla. 4th DCA MAY 11, 1988)

Appellee also maintains that there is no basis in the record to support an instruction on third degree murder. In his taped confession, Appellant clearly reveals that his intent was to kill Deputy Raczkowski, rather than merely to resist arrest. Appellant admitted that he shot the deputy in the back, as the deputy was running away from him (AC. 7, 11,37). The deputy was fifteen feet away from Appellant when Appellant fired the first shot. The deputy was not shooting at Appellant. (AC.8). Appellant admitted that he fired seven shots at the deputy, emptying his gun. (AC.13). Appellant then had no more ammunition. The medical examiner testified that four of the shots hit Deputy Raczkowski in the back. (R. 1448). Three of the bullets that entered the duputy individually caused fatal injuries. (R. 1463). Erman Hinton testified that, immediately after the shooting, Apellant came to his house and described the shooting. (R 1163-1164). Appellant told Hinton that the deputy had begged for his life prior to the shooting. (R.1181-1183). Appellant then told the deputy that "one of us got to go, me or

-24-

you," according to Hinton. (R. 1183).

The preceding evidence conclusively reveals that Appellant intended to kill the deputy, not to resist arrest. Thus, a third-degree murder instruction was not warranted where the evidence did not indicate that Appellant committed an offense other than the homicide. <u>Green v. State</u>, <u>supra; Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 427 So.2d 775 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983). <u>See also Scurry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 506 So.2d 4 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987); <u>Cave v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 180, 186 (Fla. 1985).

Even if it was conceded that the trial court erred in not giving the requested instruction, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not affect the outcome of the trial. As Appellant reluctantly concedes, a harmless error determination is applicable to the failure to instruct on a lesser included offense two or more steps removed from the charged offense. <u>State v. Abreau</u>, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978). <u>See</u> also <u>Perry v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla 1988) (failure to give third-degree murder instruction was harmless error).

Applying a harmless error test to the present case, the record reveals that the failure of the trial court to instruct the jury as to third-degree murder did not affect the outcome of the trial. First, Appellant provided the jury overwhelming evidence to convict him of premeditated first-degree murder in his own confession. As noted supra, Appellant admitted in his confession that he fired seven shots at the back of the deputy,

-25-

as the deputy ran away from him (AC. 7,11,13). Hinton testified that Appellant told him that the deputy was begging for his life prior to the shooting. (AC. 1181-1183). Appellant was fifteen feet away from the deputy when the first shot was fired. The medical examiner testified that four of the seven shots entered the deputy's body, three of which individually caused fatal injuries. (R 1448). Daniel Nippes, a criminologist, testified that there was no gunpowder residue on the deputy's clothing, which indicated that the shots which killed the deputy were fired from more than four feet away. (R.1524).

Premeditation can be inferred from the manner in which a killing occurs. Fratello v. State, 496 So.2d 903 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Where the evidence showed that Appellant fired seven shots at the back of a fleeing victim, the jury had overwhelming evidence to infer premeditation on the part of Appellant. It is immaterial that the incident occurred over a brief period of time, since there is no prescribed length of time which must elapse between the formation of the purpose to kill and the execution of the intent. Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied 107 .Ct 1912, 95 L.Ed. 2d 518, U.S. (1987). Where there is overwhelming and conclusive evidence in the record for the jury to convict Appellant of premeditated first-degree murder, the trial court's failure to give an instruction on third-degree could not have affected the outcome of the trial.

-26-

Appellant argues that he was prejudiced by the failure to give the requested instruction because it related to his theory of defense. However, a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on the law applicable to his theory of defense only if there is trial evidence to support the theory. <u>Gardner</u> <u>v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 91 (Fla. 1985). The calling of the proposed instruction a "theory of defense" does not automatically force a court to give it. <u>See United Sates v. Silverman</u>, 745 F.2d 1386 (11th Cir. 1984). As discussed previously, there was no evidence to support the giving of a third-degree murder instruction. Therefore, even through Appellant calls the instruction his theory of defense, the failure to give the instruction did not constitute prejudicial error.

The cases relied upon by Appellant are distinguishable from the present case. In <u>Bryant v State</u>, 412 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1982), this Court determined that there was evidence to support the proposed instruction on an independent act. Likewise, in <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1985), this Court determined that there was evidence to support the proposed instruction on voluntary intoxication. Unlike in <u>Bryant</u> and <u>Gardner</u>, there was no evidence to support a third-degree murder instruction where the evidence did not indicate an underlying offense.

In arguing that this Court should not apply the one step-two step test in the present case, Appellant relies on <u>State</u> <u>v. Bruns</u>, 429 So.2d 307 (Fla. 1983). However, this reliance is

-27-

misplaced. Rather than eliminating the step approach in determining whether omitted instructions on lesser-included offenses are reversible errors, this Court in <u>Bruns</u> reaffirmed this approach. This Court found reversible error in <u>Bruns</u> because the trial court did not instruct the jury on petit larceny, a step below the charged offense of robbery. Although the trial court had instructed the jury on attempted robbery, this Court in <u>Bruns</u> determined that attempts were placed in a category separate from lesser-included offense. Resultingly, this Court determined that petit larcency rather than attempted robbery. The failure to instruct on petit larceny was, therefore, reversible error.

Since Apellant has not demonstrated that the trial court erred in failing to instruct as to third-degree murder, Appellant's conviction should be confirmed.

#### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT DID NOT MAKE A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF THE SELECTIVE EXCLUSION OF A BLACK JUROR. (Restated)

Appellant argues that the trial court did not conduct an adequate inquiry into the State's preemptory challenge of a black juror. However, the record refutes Appellant's claim. Although the trial court initially stated that it did not believe an inquiry was necessary (R 323), an inquiry followed after the prosecution volunteered an explanation for the challenge of the black juror. This inquiry consumes seven pages of the trial record. (R.322-239). In this inquiry, the trial court addresses all the concerns involving the challenge of black jurors which this Court has deemed to be important. After the inquiry, the trial court reached the following conclusion:

THE COURT: For the record, I appreciate the candor of all of Counsel.

Under Slappey versus State, which is found at 510 Southern Second, 350, with regard to point one, the challenged juror is a member of an identifiable racial group. However, the--I feel that, as I've said before, I do not believe that there has been a prima facie showing of selective exclusion.

For the record, though, based

-29-

explanation of the selection. There was no difference in the questioning of this jury in regard to the other panel.

I find that the reasons of the--for the challenge were related to the facts of this case and there has been no disparate treatment.

(R 328-329). In its ruling, the trial court properly applied the test first formulated by this court in <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), and refined in <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 13 F.L.W. 184 (Fla. March 10, 1988).

Appellant only requested below that the trial court inquire as to the State's reason for the exercise of a peremptory challenge against Mrs. Carrie Gammon, the black juror. Since the trial court conducted such an inquiry, Appellant has no reason to complain. Appellant did not move to strike the jury panel, as the defendants in <u>Neil</u> and <u>Slappy</u>. Therefore, the issue of whether Appellant was tried by an improperly impaneled jury was not preserved for appellate review.

However, even if it was conceded that the issue of whether the jury was impaneled in a racially selective manner is preserved, the record reveals that Appellant did not make a prima facie showing that a likelihood of discrimination existed.

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